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S.F.B.22.

CONFERENCE ON IRELAND

Copy of a letter from the Prime Minister

to Sir James Craig.
10 Downing Street,

London, S.W. 1.

10th November 1921

My dear Prime Minister,

(1) The time has arrived when formal consultation between His Majesty’s Government and the Government of Northern Ireland is necessary for the further progress of the Irish negotiations. The settlement towards which His Majesty’s Ministers have been working, and which they believe is not unattainable, is closely based upon the proposals made by His Majesty’s Government on the 20th July last.

(2) Such a settlement would comprise the following main principles:-

(a)
Ireland would give her allegiance to the Throne and would take her place in the partnership of Free States comprised in the British Empire.

(b)
Provision would be made for those naval securities which His Majesty’s Government deem indispensable for Great Britain and her overseas communications.

(c)  The Government of Northern Ireland would retain all the powers conferred on her by the Government of Ireland Act.
(d)
The unity of Ireland would be recognised by the establishment of an all-Ireland Parliament, upon which would be devolved the further powers necessary to form the self-governing Irish State.

(3) Northern Ireland will no doubt see many dangers in a settlement along these lines. It may be objected, for instance, that the patronage involved in the various common departments, such as the Post Office, Customs and Excise, might be unfairly exercised on religious and other grounds; or again, that though Ulster would retain control of its education and kindred subjects, the Irish Government would be in a position to withhold the funds necessary to defray the administrative cost. Moreover, it might be feared that if the all-Ireland Parliament were to control import and export trade, the industries of Ulster would be imperilled.
(4) His Majesty’s Government recognises the force of these objections, and desire to consider in consultation with yourself and your Cabinet, how they can best be met. They invite your Cabinet to discuss with them the best means of dealing with these and similar matters: in particular (a) the appointment of officials with the area of Northern Ireland in Departments subject to the all-Ireland Parliament: (b) the collection of revenue within the area of Northern Ireland: (c) measures for safeguarding the exports and imports of Northern Ireland against the imposition of discriminating duties and its citizens from invidious taxation.
His Majesty’s Ministers believe that arrangements can be embodied in the Agreement now in view, whereby these difficulties can be met.

(5) The question of the area within the special jurisdiction of the Northern Parliament we have reserved for discussion with you. The creation of an all-Ireland Parliament would clearly further an amicable settlement of this problem.
(6) His Majesty’s Government are fully aware of the objections which the people of Northern Ireland may feel to participation on any terms in an all-Ireland Parliament. They have, therefore, been examining some of the alternatives, and their consequences. Their study has convinced them that grave difficulties would be raised for both parts of Ireland, if the jurisdiction over the reserved subjects were not conferred upon a common authority.

In the first place Customs barriers would have to be established between Northern and Southern Ireland over a jagged line of frontier. The inconvenience of this arrangement would be considerably enhanced by the fact that there must of necessity be large elements of the population on both sides whose sympathies will lie across the border. The natural channels of trade would be arbitrarily obstructed. The difficulty of working any such arrangement would be unceasing, the cost considerable, and the vexation to traders continuous.
In the second place the finance of the Government of Ireland Act would necessarily have to be recast. It is the essence of Dominion status that the contribution of a Dominion towards Imperial charges is voluntary. If Northern Ireland were part of the Irish State its contributions would be voluntary, like those of the Dominions. On the other hand, if Southern Ireland became a dominion while Northern Ireland remained a part of the United Kingdom with the essential corollary of representation in the Imperial Parliament, it is clear that the people of Northern Ireland would have to bear their proportionate share of all Imperial burdens, such as the Army, Navy, and other Imperial services, in common with the taxpayers of the United Kingdom. The Members for Northern Ireland at Westminster would otherwise be voting for policies in Parliament, the expense of which they would not share. It would be inevitable, if Northern Ireland were to remain a part of the United Kingdom, for Belfast to bear the same burdens as Liverpool, Glasgow or London.
These illustrations are by no means exhaustive, but they are sufficient to show the kind of difficulties which must arise from the grant of Dominion powers to a part of Ireland only.

(7) It will be evident that the people of Great Britain are making important sacrifices for the sake of a settlement. Heavily burdened though Great Britain is, the Government with the full consent of public opinion at home and throughout the Empire, is offering to forego her right to exact from Ireland any contribution to future Imperial expenses. Single handed, the British Nation assumes responsibility for Imperial defence, except in so far as Ireland and the Dominions may resolve of their own free will to contribute to the cost.

(8) His Majesty’s Government have purposely reviewed the problem in broad outline only. The details of any settlement cannot be satisfactorily approached except by discussion between all parties concerned. It is not possible by correspondence to deal adequately with even two main features of the question as it now stands, and His Majesty’s Government cordially invite the Ministers of Northern Ireland to meet them in conference with a view to a full and frank exchange of views.

                                                                                         Yours sincerely,

                                                                            (signed)       D. LLOYD GEORGE.
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